

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Hammad, Maya

Research Report

Practitioner Note 2: Inclusive transfer value, type and payment modalities

Research Report, No. 68

Provided in Cooperation with:

International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth (IPC-IG)

Suggested Citation: Hammad, Maya (2022): Practitioner Note 2: Inclusive transfer value, type and payment modalities, Research Report, No. 68, International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth (IPC-IG), Brasilia

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/265318

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.





Practitioner Note 2: Inclusive transfer value, type and payment modalities

Maya Hammad, International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth (IPC-IG)





Research Report No. 68

Practitioner Note 2: Inclusive transfer value

Practitioner Note 2: Inclusive transfer value, type and payment modalities By Maya Hammad

Copyright© 2022

International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth

United Nations Development Programme and the United Nations Children's Fund

This publication is one of the outputs of the United Nations Agency to Agency agreement between the International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth (IPC-IG) and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) Middle East and North Africa Regional Office (MENARO).

The International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth (IPC-IG) is a partnership between the United Nations and the Government of Brazil to promote South–South learning on social policies. The IPC-IG is linked to the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) in Brazil, the Ministry of Economy (ME) and the Institute for Applied Economic Research (Ipea) of the Government of Brazil.

Author

Maya Hammad (IPC-IG)

Research coordinators

IPC-IG

Charlotte Bilo (IPC-IG)
Fábio Veras Soares (Ipea and IPC-IG)

UNICEF MENARO

Samman Thapa Zehra Rizvi

Designed by the IPC-IG Publications team

Roberto Astorino, Flávia Amaral, Priscilla Minari and Manoel Salles

Rights and permissions—all rights reserved

The text and data in this publication may be reproduced as long as the source is cited. Reproductions for commercial purposes are forbidden.

The International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth disseminates the findings of its work in progress to encourage the exchange of ideas about development issues. The papers are signed by the authors and should be cited accordingly. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions that they express are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the United Nations Development Programme, the Government of Brazil or the United Nations Children's Fund.

This publication is available online at www.ipcig.org.

For further information on IPC-IG publications, please feel free to contact publications@ipcig.org.

Suggested citation: Hammad, Maya. 2022. "Practitioner Note 2: Inclusive transfer value, type and payment modalities." Research Report No. 68. Brasília and Amman: International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth and United Nations Children's Fund Middle East and North Africa Regional Office.

ISSN: 2526-0499













PRACTITIONER NOTE 2: INCLUSIVE TRANSFER VALUE, TYPE AND PAYMENT MODALITIES

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This Practitioner Note is the second in a series commissioned by the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) Middle East and North Africa Regional Office (MENARO) and developed by the International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth (IPC-IG). It was prepared by Maya Husni Nazem Hammad from the IPC-IG, with guidance from Charlotte Bilo and Fábio Veras Soares (both IPC-IG), as well as Zehra Rizvi and Samman Thapa (both UNICEF MENARO).

The author thanks Alexandre Cote, Amel Allahoum, Elie El Rawadi, Nazanin Akhgar, Nupur Kukrety, Luigi Peter Ragno, Lyanna Harracksingh, Remy Pigois, Ruth Graham Goulder, Zarema Yerzhanova (all UNICEF), Shireen Al-Azzawi, Walid Merouani, Devika Iyer (all UNDP), Julie Lawson McDowall (CALP) and Raquel Tebaldi for their valuable inputs and reviews.

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ID Identification document

DRM Disaster Risk Management

MEB Minimum Expenditure Basket

MENA Middle East and North Africa

SPACE Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline

UNFPA United Nations Population Fund

UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund

WFP World Food Programme

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	4
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	5
INTRODUCTION	9
Overview	9
How to use this Practitioner Note	12
SECTION 1: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INCLUSIVE PRACTICES	13
SECTION 2: FURTHER DETAILS ON RECOMMENDATIONS	19
ANNEXES	28
Annex 1: Resources on transfer values and payment modalities	28
Annex 2: Market assessment considerations during the COVID-19 pandemic	30
Annex 3: Comparison of response options	31
Annex 4: Example of a seasonal calendar	33
Annex 5: Gender-based violence risk analysis tool for cash and voucher-based assistance	34
REFERENCES	35

LIST OF BOXES

Box 1 Definition of key concepts	10
LIST OF TABLES	
Table 1.5 UNICEF Yemen combines Cash Plus with birth registration	19
Table 1.6 Egypt provides in-kind parcels specifically targeted to reduce malnutrition among children	19
Table 1.7 UNFPA Syria provides dignity kits through in-kind transfers or commodity vouchers	19
Table 2.2 Kenyan Cash Working Group coordinates transfer value calculations	20
Table 2.5 World Bank in Lebanon and UNICEF in Tunisia support return to education, and UNICEF in Jordan supports remote learning	20
Table 3.1 The Cash Consortium in Iraq arranges safe distribution methods	21
Table 3.2 Morocco increases the number of cash-out providers	21
Table 3.4 Yemen and Syria provide home delivery of cash benefits for the most vulnerable	21
Table 3.5 Morocco allows proxies to collect benefits on behalf of sick beneficiaries or those unable to move	22
Table 3.6 WFP in Yemen and Costa Rica, and WFP and UNICEF in Syria adapt school feeding programmes through take-home rations of fortified biscuits, fresh produce baskets and e-voucher top-ups	22
Table 4.1 Brazil and West African States facilitate rapid bank account opening	23
Table 4.4 Bangladesh and Jordan allow the use of alternative IDs for account opening, and Philippines waives identity verification	23
Table 4.5 Mexico and India permit ID verification months after bank account opening	24
Table 4.7 Making the case for pre-paid cards	24
Table 4.8 One-time passwords accessible online or via SMS in Argentina and Guatemala	25
Table 4.9 Jordan uses iris-scanning to continue delivery of cash assistance during the COVID pandemic	25

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.10 Making the case for biometric exceptions for persons with disabilities and elderly persons	25
Table 4.11 Allowing the use of SIM card registration data for account opening in Ghana	25
Table 4.12 Making the case for easing procedures to ensure that inaccessible wallets associated with disconnected numbers that have been recycled to new owners are discontinued	26
Table 4.15 Morocco and Jordan provide helplines and informative resources to assist in digital payment modalities	26
Table 4.16 India and Jordan train local communities on account opening	27
Table 4.17 Tunisia complements digital bank transfers with non-digital ones	27

INTRODUCTION

Overview

The Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region has been facing and will probably continue to face the reverberating aftershocks of multiple humanitarian crises, unstable social protection financing, rising prices of basic commodities, high unemployment rates, increased civil unrest, and threats of climate change and water scarcity. The global COVID-19 pandemic has further exacerbated the situation and added to the negative socio-economic conditions in the region. Already vulnerable groups such as **children**, **women**, **persons with disabilities**, **informal workers**, **refugees**, **asylum-seekers**, **internally displaced persons and irregular migrants** are disproportionately affected.

Children in the region are twice as likely as adults to live in monetary poverty and are thus extremely vulnerable to crisis (UNICEF n.d.). Crises also negatively affect delivery of and access to basic social services that are fundamental to child well-being and development, including education, health and nutrition. Girls also face the added risk of child marriage during times of crisis and economic hardship (UNFPA and UNICEF 2021; UNICEF 2021). Women also bear the brunt of shocks, given the realities of gender inequality in the region, as they are more likely to be unemployed. If they are employed, they are more likely to earn less than men, lose their livelihoods, be exposed to domestic violence and experience an increase in unpaid care work (Holmes et al. 2020). Women in the Arab States region already spend, on average, 4.7 times more time on unpaid work than men—the largest difference among all regions globally (ESCWA and UN Women 2020). Shock-responsive social protection measures that are not gender-sensitive can also result in women's exclusion (UN Women 2020a).

Furthermore, **people living with disabilities**, including those with functional and medical disabilities, are particularly vulnerable to health and economic risks, as they may have underlying health conditions that put them at greater risk of health complications from the pandemic, but also because they are overrepresented among people living in poverty (UNICEF 2020a). This is also applicable to **older persons**, who experience more poverty in older age as work opportunities become more sporadic and pension coverage remains minimal, especially in MENA, where only 27 per cent of older persons receive a pension, compared to 68 per cent globally (Juergens and Galvani 2020). The large number of **refugees**, **asylum-seekers**, **internally displaced persons and irregular migrants** (people on the move) due to armed conflicts and wars in MENA are also especially vulnerable to crises due to limited access to labour markets and national social assistance programmes, and a lack of access to decent health care services. Irregular migrants often work in the informal market and are not protected by formal social protection systems. Finally, **informal workers**, who are typically excluded from traditional poverty-targeted social protection programmes and government databases, become especially vulnerable in times of crisis, as they require both new identification mechanisms and adjustments to existing social protection programmes to be protected (Alfers 2020).

The strength of social protection systems in MENA and their ability to respond to shocks, varies tremendously from one country to the next, with some countries suffering from limited financing, inadequate coverage and a lack of coordination and digitised infrastructure (IBC-SP 2020). Despite the adoption of various payment modalities, the main one used by most flagship programmes across MENA is manual cash delivery through post offices (Tebaldi 2019). While post offices are suited to reaching rural and unbanked populations, they are sometimes inconvenient for the most vulnerable such as older people and persons with disabilities. Furthermore, payment timeliness³ is an issue in some MENA countries for a variety of reasons, including delays in the budget disbursement process and the choice of payment modality. For example, across MENA countries, measures were implemented after an average of nine weeks of the announcement of stay-at-home regulations (Bilo, Dytz and Sato forthcoming). During the COVID response the majority of MENA countries relied on manual cash assistance, but a few countries, such as Jordan and Morocco, shifted to mobile money for rapid disbursement (Hammad et al. 2021).

^{1.} Female unemployment was estimated at 17.6 per cent in 2019, compared to 7.5 per cent for men in the region (World Bank 2021a; 2021b).

^{2.} While information is scant, it is estimated that 68.6 per cent of all employment in the Arab States is informal, and this figure is 67.3 per cent in Northern Africa (ILO 2018).

^{3.} See Box 1 on next page for a definition.

Box 1 Definition of key concepts

Transfer type

Generally either cash or in-kind. Cash benefits can be in the form of emergency cash transfers, unconditional or conditional cash transfers, or public works programmes (also known as cash-for-work programmes). In-kind benefits can consist of emergency in-kind transfers, unconditional or conditional in-kind transfers, or school feeding programmes (IPC-IG 2021b). In-kind benefits include food parcels and/or hygiene kits. Programmes can provide a combination of different transfer types.

Transfer value

The net monetary value of a benefit. It is usually based on findings from a market assessment including calculations of the minimum expenditure basket (MEB) (see definition below), the national poverty line and/or the minimum wage. It could also be based on estimated 'income loss', poverty gap, the amount of money needed to reach a poverty line (lower or upper) and/or inflation.

Payment modality

The mechanism through which a cash benefit is delivered. This includes manual cash-in-hand payment through programme staff, cheques, paper-based vouchers, bank transfers or a variety of digital modalities (IPC-IG 2021b) described in more detail below (electronic vouchers, mobile money).

Cash Plus

"[I]nterventions that combine cash transfers with one or more types of complementary support. Types of complementary support can consist of (i) components that are provided as integral elements of the cash transfer intervention, such as through the provision of additional benefits or in-kind transfers, information or behaviour change communication (BCC), or psychosocial support, and (ii) components that are external to the intervention but offer explicit linkages into services provided by other sectors, such as through direct provision of access to services, or facilitating linkages to services" (Roelen et al. 2017).

Market assessment

An instrument to: (i) determine how a crisis affects people's access to essential commodities they usually purchase from markets; and (ii) identify solutions to aid the affected population in accessing these commodities again (ICRC 2014). Market assessments are meant to answer the following questions:

- · "Can markets meet needs feasibly and without creative negative impacts?
- · Is the economy-cash based?
- · Did the market system work well before the emergency?
- How has the crisis affected markets for goods and services, and is it functioning normally?
- · Do vulnerable groups, including women, have access to markets?
- Are the required commodities/ services available and accessible in markets?
- Are market actors able and willing to adapt to an increased demand?
- Are markets competitive (fair prices)?
- Are prices likely to increase (due to a cash-based intervention, seasonal or other factors)?" (UNICEF n.d.)

Price monitoring

An instrument for understanding the changes in prices of goods and services within a local market. Price monitoring helps identify whether beneficiaries of assistance can use it to buy more or less of the planned amounts and varieties of goods and services (UNHCR and NRC 2020).



Minimum expenditure basket (MEB)

"[A] monetary amount describing the cost of average, recurrent household essential needs... typically for one month. It comprises both food and non-food [items]. As such, it puts a price on the minimum cost of living and can hence provide a basis to determine transfer values" (WFP 2020d).

Payment timeliness

The speed with which a social protection response is implemented.

Digital payment types

Electronic alternative to cash that is stored on a card, phone or other electronic device

- Allow users to receive and store money and make payments electronically
- Represent a fixed value that once spentmeans the voucher/card can no longerbe used, or it may be reloaded again for later use
- Are partial digital payments, as recipients do not actually have accounts

Mobile money/wallet

- Allow users to receive and store money make payments electronically at a point of sale via a mobile device
- Are **full digital payments**, as recipients have accounts with a financial service provider, which in this case is a mobile money provider

Customer due diligence

Aims to identify the customer and verify their identity, including by verifying whether the individual opening the account is opening it for themselves, conducting a risk assessment of the likelihood of money laundering or financing of terrorism, and periodically reviewing customer information for accounts (FATF 2020).

Simplified due diligence

Can be conducted when there is a lower risk of money laundering or financing of terroriss, to allow the onboarding of unbanked individuals who lack appropriate identification documents. It includes:

- · verifying the customer's identity after account opening;
- · reducing the frequency of conducting customer identification updates;
- · reducing the degree of transaction monitoring based on a reasonable monetary threshold; and
- not collecting specific information or carrying out specific measures to understand the intended purpose of the account (FATF 2020; Kazzaz 2020).

Know your customer

Rules related to Anti-Money Laundering/Combating the Financing of Terrorism which mean that providers must carry out procedures to identify a customer (GSMA n.d.).

Local actors

In this series of Practitioner Notes, local actors will be taken to mean national and subnational entities and can include civil society organisations, non-governmental organisations, worker associations, private-sector actors, subnational governments and communities themselves (Cabot Venton and Sammon 2020).

Considering this context, strengthening social protection systems generally and making them more shockresponsive, and more inclusive of vulnerable and marginalised groups specifically, is vital to respond effectively to the volatile environment of the MENA region. A shock-responsive social protection system is one that can respond flexibly in the event of covariate shocks, such as natural hazards, economic crises and conflict, affecting large numbers of people or communities simultaneously (UNICEF 2019b, 3; OPM 2015). In this Practitioner Note, however, the focus is particularly on *inclusive* shock-responsive social protection, which, in addition to responding flexibly to support large numbers of people, also recognises that different groups of vulnerable people are impacted differently by shocks, and thus takes into account their heterogenous needs in the design and implementation of the response.

Consequently, this Practitioner Note is part of a four-part series providing MENA governments and practitioners in the fields of both social protection and disaster risk management (DRM) with general guidelines for future shock response informed by lessons learned from the COVID pandemic. The first three notes of the series include recommendations on inclusive design and implementation related to the following topics: (i) targeting, identification and registration mechanisms; (ii) transfer values and payment modalities; and (iii) communication, case management and grievance redress mechanisms. Given the salience of the issue of forcibly displaced populations in MENA, note IV addresses the inclusion of migrants in identification, payments, communication and grievance redress mechanisms specifically.

The present note covers transfer values, types and payment modalities (see Box 1 for relevant definitions) and presents recommendations focused on the best practices of MENA countries and other relevant experiences from low- and middle-income countries. The note is informed by a literature review of existing studies and guidelines such as those published by the Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline (SPACE). It also draws on the UNICEF Programme Guidance: on Strengthening Shock Responsive Social Protection Systems (UNICEF 2019b) and takes into account the complementarity between the DRM institutions and the role of social protection systems. Most examples provided in this note relate to social assistance measures (non-contributory social protection) implemented by governments or humanitarian partners in response to crises, including the current COVID-19 pandemic.

How to use this Practitioner Note

This Practitioner Note is prepared as an easy-to-use toolkit for governments and practitioners, which allows them to pick and choose the areas they want to focus on. It is divided into two main sections:

- · Section 1: 'Recommendations for inclusive practices' presents the following pieces of information in a table:
 - · Four identified best practices from existing toolkits and the reviewed literature
 - Challenges practitioners are likely to face in their implementation
 - · Recommendations to address those challenges and increase inclusiveness in implementing those best practices, which are divided into two sections:
 - ° Those concerning enhancing the inclusivity of the **immediate** shock response
 - Those concerning building inclusiveness and adaptability through long-term system strengthening

- · Corresponding country examples of the recommendations whenever found, which are hyperlinked to blue tables with further details in Section 2
- · Brief justifications to further explain some recommendations, when necessary, which are hyperlinked to green tables with further details in Section 2.

Finally, the following icons are used to highlight how recommendations are relevant to particular vulnerable groups:



· Section 2: 'Additional details' provides further details (indicated in blue tables) on how some of the listed countries implemented the identified best practice, and elaborates on justifications (indicated in green tables) for some inclusive recommendations that countries did not implement but should have.

Readers are advised to go through Section 1 'Recommendations for inclusive practices' and then pick and choose the country examples/justification about which they want more information by clicking on the hyperlinks that will take them to the corresponding tables in Section 2: 'Additional details'.

For a quick return to Section 1, click on the list icon at the top of the page.

It is important to highlight that following any of the recommendations listed as enhancing the immediate shock response or concerning building inclusiveness through long-term system strengthening must be based on a thorough understanding of the local context, to ascertain which recommendation is indeed best suited to the situation and crisis at hand.

SECTION 1: RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INCLUSIVE PRACTICES

To quickly decide payment types and values and deliver benefits to vulnerable groups for social protection programmes, it is key to:

- · combine multiple benefit types;
- · evaluate transfer values, timing, duration and frequency to meet wide-ranging needs;
- · adapt manual benefit delivery and engage local actors in the process; and
- · adopt digital payment modalities where applicable.

Further details on each practice are provided in the table on next page.

WHAT	Best Practice 1: Combine multiple benefit types		
WHY	Ensures broad-based coverage and that multiple risks and needs of various g	roups are n	net
CHALLENGES	Limited capacity to carry out rapid post-disaster needs assessments or market Liquidity constraint on the financial market		
	Logistical barriers to implementing certain transfer modalities in differen	it types of s	hocks
	1.1 Conduct a needs and vulnerability assessment focused on identifying economic and social protection vulnerabilities, especially for the most disadvantaged and marginalised groups (i.e. refugees, nomadic tribes, stateless individuals, women and girls, unaccompanied children, persons with disabilities etc.) at different stages of the crisis.	All	-
	1.2 Conduct market assessments, and price monitoring for countries experiencing hyperinflation.	All	(For MENA market monitoring platforms, see SNAP and REACH; for market assessment guidance, see UNHCR and NRC in Annex 1; and for important considerations in a market assessment during pandemics, see Annex 2)
	Compare different benefit types and how they meet the needs of and are accessible to different vulnerable groups.	All	(See comparison of response options and how to consider them in planning the response in Annex 3)
Recommendations Immediate	1.4 Implement Cash Plus programmes with case management processes for gender-based violence or child protection services that not only address financial needs but also resolve difficulties in accessing services for women or children, particularly those belonging to marginalised groups.	9	See Case Management and Accountability Practitioner Note
	1.5 Implement Cash Plus programmes with a focus on continuing birth registration, especially in refugee camp settings or informal settlements experiencing multiple shocks.		UNICEF Yemen
	1.6 Provide Cash Plus programmes, in-kind parcels or commodity vouchers for nutritional supplements and quality foods to reduce malnutrition, especially among children.		Egypt and WFP
	1.7 Provide water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) and dignity kits including menstrual hygiene management items in in-kind parcels when markets are disrupted, or through commodity vouchers when they are not.	Q	UNFPA Syria (for further details on dignity kits and menstrual hygiene management in emergencies, see Annex 1)
Recommendations Long term	1.8 Invest in increasing the shock-responsiveness of existing social protection programmes by strengthening market assessments and real-time monitoring tools to improve the benefit mix and value choices in future crises.	All	-

WHAT	Best Practice 2: Evaluate transfer values, timing, duration and frequency to meet wide-ranging no	eeds	
WHY	To address newly emerging needs, ensure timeliness and adequacy of the benefit in relation to the duration/effect of the crisis, and facilitate coordination between different stakeholders		
CHALLENGES	 Lack of capacity of national social protection systems to rapidly evaluate transfer values Can be less effective if there is a lack of coordination between national entities, international humanitarian agencies and cash working groups Can be inadequate if the needs of those experiencing intersectional vulnerabilities are not taken into account Fiscal and liquidity constraints to the introduction of programmes with multiple scheduled transfers as opposed to one-off ones 		onal humanitarian aken into account
	2.1 Use a seasonal calendar to identify the timing and duration of benefits, considering specific seasonal disadvantages that arise for particular vulnerable groups (i.e. the effect of winter for refugees/internally displaced persons in informal tented settlements).	All	(For an example of a seasonal calendar, see Annex 4)
	Coordinate minimum expenditure basket (MEB) calculations, inflation and exchange rate monitoring, transfer values and duration discussions between cash working groups and national social protection staff.	All	Kenya Cash Working Group (for further details on MEB and transfer values, see WFP (2020c; 2020d; 2020a) in Annex 1)
Recommendations Immediate	Take into account the extra cost of disability due to additional expenditures on both disability-specific items (e.g. wheelchairs) and common services (e.g. taxis) (Cote 2021).	Ů,	
	2.4 Consider the cost of women's sexual and reproductive health needs, such as contraceptives or menstrual supplies, in cash transfer/voucher value (UNFPA 2020).	Q	See point 1.7 above
	2.5 Consider education costs during the school return period (including teacher stipends, exam fees, transportation, uniforms, learning materials), the cost of alternative education methods such as remote learning, especially for refugees and internally displaced children (Global Education Cluster 2020; Save the Children 2020), and how to counterbalance gender norms that result in unequal access to education, such as differentiated top-up levels for cash transfers.		Lebanon and World Bank UNICEF Tunisia UNICEF Jordan
	2.6 Conduct regular reviews of the transfer value to ensure that the purchasing power of families is not eroded, especially in protracted crises.	All	-
Recommendations	Invest in integrating a focus on shocks in routine costing exercises, and make fiscal space available for different types and durations of emergency social protection responses (UNICEF 2019b).	All	
Long term	Strengthen coordination between cash working group members and social protection government practitioners to ensure better alignment.	All	-

WHAT	Best Practice 3: Adapt manual benefit delivery and engage local actors in the process		
WHY	To ensure assistance is delivered in a rapid, safe way that safeguards benefic reach in society (Cabot Venton and Sammon 2020)	iaries and	is accessible to the hardest to
CHALLENGES	 Limited liquidity for existing or new cash-out providers Limited availability and/or capability of cash-out providers Requires strong communication channels with beneficiaries Might result in long queues and waiting times or extra health risks in a he Might be exclusionary if chosen distribution points are too far away from some targeted beneficiaries 		
	3.1 For health shocks, arrange safe distribution methods through social distancing, scheduled benefit collection times, temperature check-ups and crowd management instructions at distribution points that are accessible to all beneficiaries in the geographical location.	All	Cash Consortium Iraq
	3.2 Increase the number of cash-out providers and consider mobile ones, especially in rural areas and to improve accessibility for nomadic tribes.	AII	Morocco
	3.3 Consider how women and girls and those with disabilities might be more at risk of gender-based violence through manual delivery mechanisms (Care 2019). Therefore, implement alternatives such as ensuring/increasing the number of women staff at payment sites, setting disbursement times when it is a safe time for women to travel, creating fast-track lanes for elderly women, pregnant and lactating women, and persons with disabilities.	Q	See points 3.4 and 3.5 below (for an example of a gender- based violence risk analysis tool, see Annex 5)
Recommendations Immediate	3.4 Provide home delivery options for the most vulnerable through programme staff or local community engagement.		UNICEF Yemen Syria
	3.5 Allow proxies to receive benefits on behalf of beneficiaries, especially relevant for persons with disabilities and older persons.		Morocco
	3.6 Use school feeding programmes to provide take-home rations with a similar or enhanced nutrition content when schools are closed or unreachable.		WFP Yemen Costa Rica WPF and UNICEF Syria (for more details, see FA0, UNICEF and WFP (2020) in Annex 1)
Recommendations	3.7 Strengthen systems for the use of biometrics to validate identity at time of delivery and increase the inclusion of those without identification documents (IDs), refugees, stateless individuals and possible irregular migrants.		See Targeting, Identification and Registration Practitioner Note (for more information on the risks and benefits of biometrics, see UNICEF (2019a) in Annex 1)
Long term	3.8 Set protocols for surge capacity and alternate payment approaches such as the introduction of temporary pay points.	All	-
	3.9 Include a localisation component in the shock-responsive social protection strategy that ensures the involvement of local actors in both decision-making and implementation.	All	-

WHAT	Best Practice 4: Adopt digital payment modalities (bank transfers, pre-paid cards, mobile mo	oney) whe	re applicable
WHY	Allows the rapid delivery of cash assistance to a large proportion of the popu hard-to-reach areas, and contributes to long-term financial inclusion	lation, esp	ecially those living in
CHALLENGES	 Low automated teller machine (ATM) coverage or sporadic cash-out prov Limited surge capacity of contracted financial service providers Underdeveloped/unfriendly regulatory environment for the deployment Customer regulations Can be exclusionary for the most vulnerable, especially in countries with Internet connectivity or ID coverage (Beazley, Derban, and Barca 2020) 	of mobile r	
	4.1 Facilitate the rapid opening of bank accounts or mobile money accounts by allowing remote onboarding.	All	Brazil Peru (for guidelines on mobile money in humanitarian settings, see GSMA in Annex 1)
	4.2 Ensure remote account opening procedures are disability-inclusive.	Å	-
	4.3 Establish tiered bank accounts or mobile money accounts with corresponding simplified due diligence mechanisms, also known as tiered Know Your Customer.	All	See points 4.4, 4.5, 4.6 and 4.12 below (for a definition of simplified due diligence, see Box 1)
	4.4 Simplify due diligence by allowing the use of other identification mechanisms such as work IDs or refugee IDs and/or by waiving the ID verification requirement entirely, which is especially relevant for stateless persons or those facing difficulties in obtaining documentation, such as women.	<u></u> Ф	Bangladesh Jordan Philippines
	4.5 Simplify due diligence by permitting delayed ID verification after account opening.	AII	Mexico India
Recommendations Immediate	4.6 Simplify the ID renewal/issuance process.	All	See the Targeting, Identification and Registration Practitioner Note
	4.7 Replace manual cash payments with partially digital modalities such as pre-paid cards which provide more access and minimise risks for vulnerable groups, especially women, than other digital payment modalities, as they mitigate the need for mobile phones, Internet connectivity or IDs.	Q	Justification
	4.8 Use cardless cash withdrawals through one-time PIN codes, relevant for areas where mobile money or bank account opening may be less feasible in a crisis situation and biometric authentication is difficult.	All	Argentina Guatemala
	4.9 Use biometrics for identity validation for payment disbursement only in contexts with the right digital infrastructure and sufficient data protection mechanisms.	All	Jordan (for guidance on assessing when to use biometric technologies, see UNICEF (2019) in Annex 1)
	4.10 Complement biometric validation with others means of authentication, to ensure inclusion of persons with disabilities, elderly persons or those engaged in hard labour.		Justification



	4.11 Use SIM registration data for mobile money account opening, to ensure accessibility for those less likely to have IDs, such as women, refugees and migrants.	Q	Ghana
	4.12 Simplify procedures to ensure that inaccessible wallets associated with previously dormant or deactivated SIMs are discontinued, to allow the new SIM card owners to open wallets.	All	Justification
	4.13 Provide mobile phones and SIM cards through bulk purchasing to enable more inclusive mobile money-reliant assistance programmes, especially those lacking the necessary IDs for SIM registration.	Q	See point 4.7 above
	4.14 Ensure that data security measures are in place, including clear guidelines on financial service providers' access to and use of beneficiary data (Bazarbash et al. 2020; CIPIT 2020), and regulations to restrict government access to beneficiary data from mobile network operators in specific cases (CaLP 2021; GSMA 2019).	All	-
Recommendations Immediate	4.15 Create helplines to assist beneficiaries in accessing benefits through digital modalities (i.e. providing information on account opening or mobile wallet cash-out procedures etc.) that are provided in multiple languages to increase accessibility to migrant and refugee populations.	<u></u>	Morocco Jordan
	4.16 Engage local actors such as women's self-help groups, women's rights organisations and community-based organisations to assist beneficiaries in accessing benefits through digital modalities (i.e. providing information on account opening or mobile wallet cash-out procedures etc.), especially relevant for rural populations, women, elderly people, and persons with disabilities.	Q % & %	India Jordan
	4.17 Complement digital transfers with non-digital ones to ensure greater coverage and more inclusion, especially for elderly people, women, and persons with disabilities.		Tunisia
	4.18 Conduct an availability and capacity assessment of financial service providers for cash transfer implementation.	All	-
	4.19 Support the development of standard operating procedures for crisis situations for financial service providers in the social protection system.	All	-
Recommendations Long term	4.20 Invest in the development of regulations on tiered accounts and their corresponding tiered customer due diligence processes to increase financial inclusion.	All	-
	4.21 Invest in the development of regulations on remote onboarding and deferred IDs and/or delayed ID verification mechanisms to increase financial inclusion.	AII	-

SECTION 2: FURTHER DETAILS ON RECOMMENDATIONS

Best Practice 1: Combine multiple benefit types is a good strategy in crisis situations to ensure broad-based coverage and that multiple risks and needs of various groups are met (UNICEF n.d.).4 Governments and practitioners can take steps in the immediate and the long term to increase the inclusivity of different benefit mixes, examples of which are demonstrated in the tables below.

Table 1.5 UNICEF Yemen combines Cash Plus with birth registration

Recommendation	1.5 Implement Cash Plus programmes with a focus on continuing birth registration, especially in refugee camp settings or informal settlements experiencing multiple shocks
Country example	UNICEF Yemen
Details	The emergency cash transfer programme in Yemen implemented by UNICEF included a number of Cash Plus components such as access to health and nutrition services and, most importantly, birth registration. Each beneficiary family is assigned a Case Referral Officer, who meets with them to understand their needs and refer them to relevant services. For families with infants or unregistered children under 5 years, the Case Referral Officer also oversees the issuance of birth certificates (Alturki 2020).
	Birth registration is not only important in the long term, but also in the immediate term, since having a birth certificate for newborns may enable households to access emergency programmes targeting children and lactating mothers.

Table 1.6 Egypt provides in-kind parcels specifically targeted to reduce malnutrition among children

Recommendation	1.6 Provide Cash Plus programmes, in-kind parcels or commodity vouchers for nutritional supplements and quality foods to reduce malnutrition, especially among children
Country example	Egypt
Details	The Egyptian emergency social protection response to COVID-19 included an in-kind distribution component benefiting 3.8 million households with pregnant women, lactating mothers and children below 2 years in an effort to improve food security and reduce malnutrition resulting from the pandemic. Beneficiaries of the <i>Takaful</i> (conditional cash transfer) programme who were pregnant women or lactating mothers or had children below 2 years received an EGP200 top-up payment as part of the country's 'First 1,000 Days of Life' programme financed by the World Food Programme (WFP). These households also received the emergency top-up that applied to all <i>Takaful</i> beneficiaries at the start of the pandemic (IPC-IG 2021a).

Table 1.7 UNFPA Syria provides dignity kits through in-kind transfers or commodity vouchers

Recommendation	1.7 Provide water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) and dignity kits including menstrual hygiene management items in in-kind parcels when markets are disrupted, or through commodity vouchers when they are not
Country example	UNFPA Syria
Details	The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted the distribution of and access to menstrual hygiene products, and led to a considerable increase in their prices (Plan International 2020). In such circumstances, the provision of ready-made water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) and dignity kits to women and adolescent girls is recommended (UNICEF 2020b).
	In Syria, the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) has been working since the start of the pandemic to provide sanitary napkin packs and specialised dignity kits targeting women and/or adolescent girls. As of 31 August, UNFPA had reached 101,345 beneficiaries.
	Additionally, UNFPA collaborates with WFP's e-voucher programme by financing the provision of additional benefits to pregnant and lactating women to cover their hygiene costs. Women can use the e-voucher to buy hygiene items from designated stores in a number of cities. In response to the pandemic, UNFPA provided existing beneficiaries with a top-up and aims to finance the expansion of the hygiene e-voucher to 70,000 additional vulnerable families (UNFPA Syria 2020). (For further details on dignity kits and menstrual hygiene management in emergencies, see Annex 1.)

^{4.} It could also be a strong motivator to increase participation in contributory schemes when contributory and non-contributory benefits are combined.



Best Practice 2: Evaluate transfer values, timing, duration and frequency to meet wide-ranging needs and ensure timeliness of assistance provision and adequacy of the benefit in relation to the duration/effect of the crisis. Governments and practitioners can implement the following recommendations to ensure more inclusion in the emergency response.

Table 2.2 Kenyan Cash Working Group coordinates transfer value calculations

Recommendation	2.2 Coordinate minimum expenditure basket (MEB) calculars values and duration discussions between cash working		0
Country example	Kenya Cash Working Group		
Details	The Kenyan government's <i>Inua Jamii</i> programme, which provides KSh2,000 monthly to vulnerable benefing was expanded horizontally and vertically during the COVID-19 pandemic in close collaboration with the Kellore Cash Working Group. A consortium of international partners within the Working Group provided existing proposed beneficiaries with a complementary transfer of KSh5,142 per month, based on the Working Group's MEB of shown below. The same consortium provided households not receiving government social assistance with monthly benefit, representing 50 per cent of the MEB (Gikandi 2020).		aboration with the Kenyan provided existing programme orking Group's MEB calculations
	monthly benefit, representing 50 per cent of the MEB (bikand	di 2020 J.	
	monthly benefit, representing 50 per cent of the MEB (Gikand	Benefit value	Benefit coverage (% of MEB)
	Government cash transfer for <i>Inua Jamii</i> programme		Benefit coverage (% of MEB)
		Benefit value	

Table 2.5 World Bank in Lebanon and UNICEF in Tunisia support return to education, and UNICEF in Jordan supports remote learning

Recommendation	2.5 Consider education costs during the school return period (including teacher stipends, exam fees, transportation, uniforms, learning materials) and the cost of alternative education methods such as remote learning, especially for refugees and internally displaced children (Global Education Cluster 2020; Save the Children 2020)		
Country example	Lebanon and the World Bank	UNICEF Tunisia	UNICEF Jordan
Details	The World Bank's Emergency Crisis and COVID-19 Response Social Safety Net Project targets beneficiaries of the country's National Poverty Targeting Programme. The emergency programme funded by the World Bank includes a cash assistance component for at-risk students between the ages of 13 and 18 years that covers direct and indirect costs of education. The benefit value varies based on the age of the child and the educational stream they are in (general or vocational). The benefit consists of the following two categories: Paid directly to the school: covering school registration fees, parents' council fees Paid directly to households: either at the start of the school year to cover textbooks, uniforms and equipment, or paid monthly to cover transportation expenses (World Bank 2020). In countries where students must pay examination fees, these additional costs should be taken into account alongside those already covered by the World Bank in Lebanon.	UNICEF is working alongside the Ministry of Social Affairs to support 310,000 children between the ages of 6 and 18 with a one-off 'back to school' allowance of TND50. The targeted children belong to households benefiting from Tunisia's National Assistance Programme for Needy Families and free health insurance (Aide Médicale Gratuite) (UNICEF Tunisia 2020).	In mMid-March 2020, the Jordanian government announced school closures, introduced an online platform for distance learning and created three TV channels for streaming lessons. Despite these efforts, the digital gap means that the poorest students are still likely to be excluded, since 70 per cent of them have no access to computers and 50 per cent of them have no access to the Internet (Audah, Capek, and Patil 2020). Given this context, UNICEF Jordan is providing 1,500 beneficiaries, mostly Syrian refugees and children with disabilities, with access to data packages and tablet computers (UNICEF Jordan 2020a; 2020b).



Best Practice 3: Adapt manual benefit delivery and engage local actors in the process helps to ensure that assistance is delivered in a rapid, safe way that safeguards beneficiaries and is accessible to the hardest to reach in society (Cabot Venton and Sammon 2020). The majority of MENA countries used manual cash payments with some additional tweaks to make them more COVID-appropriate (Hammad et al. 2021). The following section provides some recommendations based on country examples of how manual delivery of cash payments can be adapted to ensure the process is more inclusive.

Table 3.1 The Cash Consortium in Iraq arranges safe distribution methods

Recommendation	3.1 Arrange safe distribution methods through social distancing, scheduled benefit collection times, temperature check-ups and crowd management instructions	
Country example	Cash Consortium Iraq	
Details	The Cash Consortium in Iraq (2020) provided its members with two arrangement options for socially distanced distribution sites. The payment process was also designed to be contactless so that identity checks could proceed without the need to touch beneficiaries' ID cards.	

Table 3.2 Morocco increases the number of cash-out providers

Recommendation	3.2 Increase the number of cash-out providers and consider mobile ones, especially in rural areas and to improve accessibility for nomadic tribes and/or rural populations
Country example	Morocco
Details	Morocco's emergency cash assistance programme for informal workers reached approximately 77 per cent of the Moroccan population. To ensure everyone has access to the benefits, the government provided beneficiaries with a one-time PIN code that they can use to cash out the benefits through ATMs or banks. Fifty mobile units were also sent to hard-to-reach areas (IPC-IG 2021a).

Table 3.4 Yemen and Syria provide home delivery of cash benefits for the most vulnerable

Recommendation	3.4 Provide home delivery options for the most vulnerable through programme staff or engagement with local actors	
Country example	UNICEF in Yemen	Syria
Details	The emergency cash transfer programme implemented by UNICEF in Yemen reaches approximately 1.42 million households. Payments are made through fixed locations and mobile sites, as well as outreach payments through home visits by programme staff especially for beneficiaries with physical impediments or those facing 'socio-cultural' barriers that prevent them from reaching payment sites (UNICEF 2020c).	To implement its National Plan for Emergency Response, which included cash and in-kind assistance to elderly people and persons with disabilities, as well as cash assistance to informal and self-employed workers, the Syrian Ministry of Social Affairs and Labour adopted a decentralised approach that depends on local committees and volunteers. To achieve this, the Ministry: • collaborated with the Ministry of Local Administration to identify the smallest administrative units; • sought local administrators or local chiefs (mukhtars) in the identified units depending on their type; • reached out to potential volunteers from the identified units with previous connections to community-based organisations operating in their area; • established local committees including local administrators, chiefs and a team of volunteers; and • trained local committees (Lana Plus TV 2020). The local committees were essential in delivering aid to elderly people and persons with disabilities (IPC-IG forthcoming).



Table 3.5 Morocco allows proxies to collect benefits on behalf of sick beneficiaries or those unable to move

Recommendation	3.5 Allow proxies to receive benefits on behalf of beneficiaries, especially relevant for persons with disabilities and older persons
Country example	Morocco
Details	The Moroccan government issued the emergency assistance benefit for informal workers to the 'head of the household' but allowed proxies to pick up the cash on behalf of the named recipient in certain cases, such as the death of the recipient or the recipient being sick or unable to move.
	A spouse is allowed to collect the benefit on behalf of their dead spouse. He/she must present the recipient's death certificate, and both of their national ID cards. This exception is only applicable to beneficiaries who are existing RAMED (subsidised health insurance) beneficiaries; thus they are also required to present their RAMED card (Ministry of Economy 2020a). For future shocks, it is important to extend such an exception to all beneficiaries of an emergency programme, and not just those already in the database.
	For proxies to collect the benefit on behalf of a sick person or someone unable to move, he/she must present the recipient's ID card, proof of their inability to travel, and his/her own ID card showing the same address as the recipient or a nearby address (Le Site Info 2020).
	No details are available on what type of 'proof of inability to travel' is deemed acceptable for recipients who are sick or are unable to move, but it is important that in future crises such a requirement is made as flexible as possible to ensure inclusion.

Table 3.6 WFP in Yemen and Costa Rica, and WFP and UNICEF in Syria adapt school feeding programmes through take-home rations of fortified biscuits, fresh produce baskets and e-voucher top-ups

Recommendation	3.6 Use school feeding programmes to provide take-home rations with a similar or enhanced nutrition content when schools are closed/unreachable (FAO, UNICEF, and WFP 2020)		
Country example	WFP Yemen	Costa Rica	WFP and UNICEF Syria
Details	WFP Yemen adapted its school feeding programme by distributing take-home rations consisting of high-energy biscuits, fortified date bars and other healthy snacks (WFP 2020b).	In Costa Rica, the government set up collection points for beneficiaries to pick up food baskets including fresh produce sourced from smallholder farmers (FAO, UNICEF, and WFP 2020).	In Syria, WFP and UNICEF are distributing e-vouchers to 200,000 school children and 44,000 out-of-school children enrolled in UNICEF's Curriculum B programme for children who have missed out on years of schooling (WFP 2020b; UNICEF Syria 2020). UNICEF provided a two-month top-up on the e-voucher for the out-of-school children, expanding it to cover food as well as non-food hygiene items such as soap.

Best Practice 4: Adopt digital delivery modalities is vital in a crisis context to ensure that assistance is provided rapidly to beneficiaries, especially those in the hardest-to-reach areas. However, some digital delivery modalities such as bank transfers or mobile money may be exclusionary for the most vulnerable groups, who lack Internet connectivity, mobile phones and the appropriate documentation. Digital delivery modalities can become more inclusive by:

- · simplifying procedures for bank account and mobile money opening, especially in regard to identification verification, which could be done by waiving ID requirements entirely, using functional IDs or allowing ID verification at a later date;
- · creating strong communication channels and setting up a variety of helplines to assist beneficiaries in account opening;
- · using partially digital modalities such as pre-paid cards; or
- · complementing digital transfers with non-digital ones.



More details on these recommendations are provided below.

Table 4.1 Brazil and West African States facilitate rapid bank account opening

Recommendation	4.1 Facilitate the rapid opening of bank accounts or mobile	money accounts by allowing remote onboarding
Country example	Brazil	West African States
Details	Brazil's Auxilio Emergencial programme for informal workers and self-employed and unemployed people facilitated the creation of 57 million new accounts through a smartphone app at the state-owned Caixa Economica Federal bank within three weeks of the programme's launch. The app required individuals to share their national ID number, address and telephone number. The app facilitated remote onboarding by forgoing the requirement to present IDs in person (Barbosa et al. 2020; Kazzaz 2020; Una et al. 2020).	The Central Bank of West African States published new guidelines in April 2020 permitting remote onboarding for the first time for Tier 1 and Tier 2 accounts. Tier 1 accounts can be opened without IDs and have a transaction limit of USD20 and a maximum balance of USD400. The regulations allow accounts to be opened remotely through USSD text messaging or a phone call. Tier 2 accounts can be opened by sending photos or video chatting. These methods led to a tripling of the number of monthly new accounts (Hammad et al. 2021; Kazzaz 2020).

Table 4.4 Bangladesh and Jordan allow the use of alternative IDs for account opening, and Philippines waives identity verification

Recommendation	4.4 Simplify due diligence by allowing the use of other identification mechanisms or waiving identity verification		
Country example	Bangladesh	Jordan	Philippines
Details	At the start of the COVID pandemic, the Central Bank of Bangladesh permitted the use of employment records for ready-made garment workers to facilitate bank account opening. The decision was made given that the majority of garment workers, who are women, have no digital IDs or other means of identity verification (Kazzaz 2020). This is known as collaborative due diligence—a way to verify the identity of individuals who lack traditional verification documents by using alternative records such as employment records, government benefits and mobile phone usage. It requires creative partnerships that could involve both private-and public-sector institutions (Lyman et al. 2019; Kazzaz 2020).	International humanitarian providers such as the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) worked alongside the Central Bank to ensure that the Jordan Mobile Payment Switch allows the use of refugee IDs issued by UNHCR in the mobile wallet opening process (Kazzaz 2020).	The Central Bank of Philippines waived the requirement for presenting valid ID documents for customer onboarding. The measure was introduced to allow beneficiaries with no valid ID to open bank accounts during the lockdown period from 1 April to 30 June 2020. Each beneficiary had to indicate that they did not have a valid ID document. However, to safeguard against risks of money laundering or financing of terrorism, such accounts were set a transaction limit of USD985 per day (Jenik, Kerse, and de Koker 2020).



Table 4.5 Mexico and India permit ID verification months after bank account opening

Recommendation	4.5 Simplify due diligence by permitting delayed ID verification after account opening		
Country example	Mexico India		
Details	Mexico allowed the opening of Tier 2 accounts, which have a limit that is 50 per cent less than normal accounts. Tier 2 accounts also provide customers with an 18-period time-frame to provide valid ID confirming their name, gender and address (Jenik, Kerse, and de Koker 2020).	India's lowest-tier account does not require an ID for opening but expires after 12 months. If the account holder provides evidence of an application for an official ID, the account may be extended for another 12 months. After those 12 months, if the account holder provides no evidence of procuring an ID or if his/her application is denied, then the account is frozen. Customers can, however, withdraw their funds prior to the account's closure [Kazzaz 2020].	

Table 4.7 Making the case for pre-paid cards

	4.7 Replace manual cash payments with pre-paid cards, which provide more access for women than other digital payment modalities, as they mitigate the need for mobile phones, internet connectivity or IDs		
Justification	Digital payment modalities can be exclusionary to women, as they often require proof of identity and/or access to a mobile phone. In low-income countries, the proportion of women with an ID is only half of that of men (Kazzaz 2020) The table below provides a summary of the unregistered population in MENA.		
	Country	% of population lacking ID	% of population lacking ID that is female
	Algeria	17%	-
	Bahrain	4%	37%
	Djibouti	68%	-
	Egypt	3%	-
	Iran	5%	-
	Jordan	29%	-
	Libya	65%	-
	Yemen	34%	_
	male guardian to	cle to issuing documentation, especially in 1	
	A notable obstac	cle to issuing documentation, especially in to o authorise/request such services. Further ENA is also low, as shown below.	more, mobile phone ownership and mobile Internet usag
	A notable obstac	cle to issuing documentation, especially in to o authorise/request such services. Further ENA is also low, as shown below. Gender gap in mobile phone own	more, mobile phone ownership and mobile Internet usag
	A notable obstac	cle to issuing documentation, especially in to o authorise/request such services. Further ENA is also low, as shown below. Gender gap in mobile phone own	more, mobile phone ownership and mobile Internet usag
	A notable obstac	cle to issuing documentation, especially in to o authorise/request such services. Further ENA is also low, as shown below. Gender gap in mobile phone own	more, mobile phone ownership and mobile Internet usag
	A notable obstac	cle to issuing documentation, especially in to o authorise/request such services. Further ENA is also low, as shown below. Gender gap in mobile phone own	more, mobile phone ownership and mobile Internet usage nership and mobile internet use ddle income Countries
	A notable obstac	cle to issuing documentation, especially in to authorise/request such services. Further ENA is also low, as shown below. Gender gap in mobile phone own MENA Low-mid	more, mobile phone ownership and mobile Internet usage nership and mobile internet use ddle income Countries
	A notable obstac	cle to issuing documentation, especially in to authorise/request such services. Further ENA is also low, as shown below. Gender gap in mobile phone own MENA Low-mid	more, mobile phone ownership and mobile Internet usage nership and mobile internet use ddle income Countries
	A notable obstac	cle to issuing documentation, especially in to authorise/request such services. Further ENA is also low, as shown below. Gender gap in mobile phone own MENA Low-mid	ddle income Countries 21% 20%



Table 4.8 One-time passwords accessible online or via SMS in Argentina and Guatemala

Recommendation	4.8 Use cardless cash withdrawals through one-time PIN c account opening may be less feasible in a crisis situati	· ·	
Country example	Argentina Guatemala		
Details	One-time passwords were sent to beneficiaries through the online registration mechanism, allowing them to withdraw cash from ATMs (Beazley, Derban, and Barca 2020).	One-time passwords in Guatemala, on the other hand, were sent to beneficiaries via SMS (Beazley, Derban, and Barca 2020).	

Table 4.9 Jordan uses iris-scanning to continue delivery of cash assistance during the COVID pandemic

Recommendation	4.9 Use biometrics for identity validation for payment disbursement only in contexts with the right digital infrastructure and sufficient data protection mechanisms
Country example	Jordan
Details	In Jordan, many refugees were already using iris-scanning (the IrisGuard system) to access their cash benefits even before the COVID crisis. This contactless technology uses iris-scanning to identify and link each beneficiary account on humanitarian agencies' blockchain, with no need to touch any buttons or displays, and can be used in shops and bakeries within refugee camps. It allowed beneficiaries from various programmes administered by humanitarian agencies to continue receiving their support in a safe way (UN Women 2020b). [For guidance on assessing when to use biometric technologies, see UNICEF (2019) in Annex 1.]

Table 4.10 Making the case for biometric exceptions for persons with disabilities and elderly persons

Recommendation	4.10 Complement biometric validation with others means of authentication, to ensure inclusion of persons with disabilities, elderly persons or those engaged in hard labour
Justification	Biometric authentication can be exclusionary for persons with disabilities. India's biometric ID system, <i>Aadhaar</i> , issues a 12-digit ID number to all residents after collecting their biometric (facial image, fingerprints and iris scans) and demographic data. The <i>Aadhar</i> -enabled payment system, which relies on fingerprint authentication at cashout agents known as business correspondents, was used to authenticate identity for assistance disbursement during COVID yet resulted in the failure of 39 percent of transactions due to data mismatches (Thapliyal et al. 2021), potentially caused by individuals with 'worn out' fingers due to injury or engagement in prolonged manual labour involving their hands, and those with mental disabilities, hearing impairments, autism, cerebral palsy or limited control over their eyes (Barca et al. 2021; Hundal, A P, and Chaudhuri 2020). To deal with these exclusions, the Unique Identification Authority of India had already issued 'biometric exceptions' for persons with certain disabilities such as missing fingers or eyes, or disoriented eyes. For example, those without hands or fingers are enrolled via facial recognition only. Nevertheless, the biometric exceptions provided do not take into account other conditions that might make finger or facial authentication difficult, such as:
	 persons with conditions affecting their fingerprints or their ability to move their fingers (psoriasis, causing scaly skin patches, or cerebral palsy); and
	 persons with autism who might be unable to maintain eye contact (Parsheera 2020).
	To increase coverage of the <i>Aadhaar</i> ID number to enable access to social protection, some state governments created mobile sample collection vans (Rao Apparasu 2020).

Table 4.11 Allowing the use of SIM card registration data for account opening in Ghana

Recommendation	4.11 Use SIM card registration data for mobile money account opening to ensure accessibility for those less likely to have IDs, such as women, refugees and migrants
Country example	Ghana
Details	As part of the eased customer due diligence and Know Your Customer processes, financial service providers were allowed to use SIM card registration data from mobile network operators to activate mobile money accounts that had certain ceilings (Jenik, Kerse, and de Koker 2020).



Table 4.12 Making the case for easing procedures to ensure that inaccessible wallets associated with disconnected numbers that have been recycled to new owners are discontinued

4.12 Simplify procedures to ensure inaccessible wallets associated with disconnected/cancelled numbers are discontinued to allow the new SIM card owners to open wallets In many countries, mobile network operators disconnect/deactivate SIM cards that have not been charged or used for 30-80 days (GSMA 2019). In some countries where SIM cards can be disconnected/deactivated after a short period of inactivity, it is cheaper to purchase a new SIM card than to recharge numbers and pay additional fees to reactivate disconnected ones. Consequently, procedures need to be in place to ensure that inaccessible wallets associated with disconnected/cancelled numbers that have been recycled to a new owner are discontinued to allow the new SIM card owners to open wallets. In Jordan, a reoccurring issue during the pandemic was that beneficiaries of emergency cash transfer programmes faced difficulties attempting to open mobile wallets, as they owned recycled SIM cards—i.e cards that belonged to someone else before them and were disconnected. Wallets associated with such numbers are not automatically discontinued when their associated numbers are disconnected or change ownership (AlSalhi et al. 2020). To mitigate this problem, beneficiaries could either:5 contact Jordan's Payments and Clearing Company, which operates the Jordan Mobile Payments Switch, to receive confirmation of their ability to open a mobile wallet using a family member's mobile phone number (i.e. son, daughter, wife etc.); or obtain a letter from their mobile network operator confirming them as the new owner of the mobile phone number, and submit it to one of the branches of the mobile payment service provider or to an account opening agent. The mobile payment service provider then closes the old wallet to allow the beneficiary to open a new one associated with their national ID number. Given that the second option is time-consuming, and not all eligible beneficiaries are aware of the first one, simplifying such processes and making people aware of them is vital to ensure accessibility to benefits in future crises.

Table 4.15 Morocco and Jordan provide helplines and informative resources to assist in digital payment modalities

Recommendation	4.15 Create helplines and informative resources to assist in accessing benefits through digital modalities (i.e. providing information on account opening or mobile wallet cash-out procedures etc.) that are provided in multiple languages to increase accessibility to migrants, refugees and ethnic minorities								
Country example	Morocco	Jordan							
Details	Morocco's emergency cash transfer programme for informal workers used a one-time PIN sent to beneficiaries' mobile phone numbers to allow them to cash out the benefits. Beneficiaries are required to go to their chosen cash-out provider.	The Jordan Payments and Clearance Company, in collaboration with the Central Bank, established a number of mechanisms to provide information on mobile wallets through a website, a Facebook page and a call centre, each of which is summarised below.							
	 If the assigned provider is a bank branch, a beneficiary is required to provide their national ID and the one-time PIN. If the assigned provider is an ATM, a beneficiary is required to enter the one-time PIN and the last four numbers of their national ID (Ministry of Economy 2020b). 	Mobile Wallets Gateway is a website that includes self-registration links to all mobile payment service providers in the country. It provides details of any transaction fees charged by different providers. Most importantly, it contains an 'inquiry engine' that enables individuals to type in their ID number to find out if they already have a registered wallet.							
	The Ministry of Economy created informative videos on the way to retrieve benefits in Arabic, Amazigh and Tarifit (financesmaroc 2020a; 2020b; 2020c).	 Mahafezna is a Facebook page that includes videos and booklets on all things related to account opening and cashing out. Staff of the Jordan Payments and Clearance Company also used it to answer beneficiaries' questions directly through comments and/or posts. A call centre was used to assist users of all mobile payment service providers and worked closely with them and the Central Bank to ensure issues were resolved (AlSalhi et al. 2020). 							

^{5.} Based on personal communication with an employee of the Jordan Payments and Clearance Company in April 2021.



Table 4.16 India and Jordan train local communities on account opening

Recommendation	4.16 Engage local actors such as women's self-help groups or community-based organisations to assist beneficiaries in accessing benefits through digital modalities (i.e. providing information on account opening, mobile wallet cash-out procedures etc.), especially relevant for rural populations, women, elderly people, and persons with disabilities							
Country example	India	Jordan						
Details	Women's self-help groups were a more efficient means of communicating account opening and cash-out processes to other women, and those in rural populations. Members of women's self-help groups, known as 'Bank Sakhis' in Hindi (directly translated as 'female banker friends' in English), operate as bank correspondents or cash-in-cash-out agents. There are than 1 million bank correspondents around India, 60 per cent of whom are in rural areas (Narain et al. 2020; Pinto and Arora 2020). While such arrangements existed prior to the pandemic, bank correspondents helped people fulfil the Know Your Customer requirements to activate their accounts to benefit from a COVID top-up (Mathew 2020). In Bihar state, a women's group facilitated the enrolment of more than 2 million women in the Public Distribution System (Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation et al. 2020).	The Jordan Payments and Clearance Company trained a number of community-based organisations and youth centres in governorates on how to open mobile wallets. The focus was also to reach out to specific sectors, such as agriculture, and provide relevant information on account opening (AlSalhi et al. 2020).						

Table 4.17 Tunisia complements digital bank transfers with non-digital ones

Recommendation	4.17 Complement digital transfers with non-digital ones to ensure greater coverage and more inclusion
Country example	Tunișia
Details	Tunisia's Exceptional Cash Assistance for Certain Categories of Self-Employed Workers offers beneficiaries two options for accessing their benefits: either through a direct transfer to their bank account or delivered to a nearby post office (IPC-IG 2021a).



ANNEXES

Annex 1: Resources on transfer values and payment modalities

Area	Institution	Year	Name	Description		
Needs assessment	WFP	2020	Essential Needs Assessment: Guidance Note	Introduces different essential needs indicators and discusses how to combine them. It also includes a section on how the needs assessment process can be adjusted to be done rapidly in crisis situations.		
Humanitarian needs assessment: education	Global Education Cluster	2019	Considerations for Cash and Voucher Assistance in Education in Emergencies Needs Assessment	Provides a checklist of potential actions when considering cash and voucher assistance in education in emergencies needs assessments, including looking at engagement with cash working groups and sources for secondary data		
Humanitarian market assessments	UNHCR and Norwegian Refugee Council	2020	Multi-Sector Market Assessment Guidance and Toolkit	Includes step-by-step guidance to conduct market assessments, as well as sample data collection tools that can be adapted and used in different contexts		
MENA market	SNAP	_	SNAP Website	Demand-driven and innovative online platform that uses state-of-the-art analytical tools to produce food security early warning, and enhanced risk management and social protection		
monitoring	REACH	-	Reach Website	Humanitarian initiative providing granular data, timely information and in-depth analysis from contexts of crisis, disaster and displacement		
Minimum expenditure baskets	WFP	2020c	Minimum Expenditure Baskets Guidance Note	Elaborates on the differences and pros and cons of the expenditure-based and rights-based approach to MEB and provides step-by-step guidance on how to make the calculation, taking into account seasonal or regional price differences, and differing needs by area		
Transfer values	WFP	2020d	Setting the Transfer Value for CBT Interventions Interim Guidance	Discusses transfer value calculations along with how to prioritise, align with other actors and consider beneficiary preferences. It also touches on transfer values in emergencies.		
COVID payment modalities	Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline (SPACE)	2020	Options for Rapid Delivery (Payment) of Cash Transfers for COVID-19 Responses and Beyond	Assesses the main strategies for cash delivery during the COVID pandemic, including the advantages, disadvantages and challenges for implementing: Bank account transfers Mobile money transfers Provision of pre-paid cards or one-time passwords Cheques Manual cash delivery		
Humanitarian benefit modalities	Social Protection across the Humanitarian— Development Nexus (SPaN)	2019	Operational Note No. 1: Benefit Modalities	Aims to collate emergent learning around using social protection tools, specially relating to benefit modalities, for programming in contexts of fragility		





Area	Institution	Year	Name	Description		
Humanitarian mobile money	GSMA	2019	Mobile Money Enabled Cash Aid Delivery: Operational Handbook for Mobile Money Providers	Identifies opportunities and challenges for mobile money providers and provides the seven steps needed for successful digital assistance disbursements: Research and infrastructure Building partnerships Registration and awareness Training and pilot Disbursement Liquidity and management Reporting and reconciliation		
Humanitarian menstrual hygiene management	Colombia University and International Rescue Committee	2017	Toolkit for Integrating Menstrual Hygiene Management into Humanitarian Response	Compares the provision of different menstrual hygiene management materials and supplies and elaborates on adapting such responses for people on the move and vulnerable groups		
Humanitarian dignity kit design and distribution	Global Protection Cluster	2015	Dignity Kits Guidance Note	Discusses the potential components of a dignity kit that is culturally appropriate to Muslim and Arab contexts		
Adapting school feeding programmes	FAO, UNICEF and WFP	2020	Mitigating the Effects of the COVID Pandemic on Food Nutrition of Schoolchildren	Provides recommendations for maintaining nutrition for children in cases where schools are closed and in cases where schools remain open		
COVID-19 Cash Plus	Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline (SPACE)	2020	Programming Options: Cash Plus Approaches in the Response to COVID-19	Introduces external and internal Cash Plus models, provides justifications for the use of Cash Plus programming during COVID, and lists design and implementation concerns for Cash Plus interventions suited to the pandemic		
Biometrics	UNICEF	2019a	Faces, Fingerprints and Feet: Guidance on assessing the value of including biometric technologies in UNICEF- supported programmes	Demonstrates the benefits and risks of using biometric technologies. Also provides practical guidance to practitioners through a series of 10 questions to enable them to identify whether they should use biometric technologies		



Annex 2: Market assessment considerations during the COVID-19 pandemic





Annex 3: Comparison of response options

Benefit type	Definition	Benefits	Drawbacks
Unconditional cash transfer	Provided to beneficiaries without the requirement that they perform certain actions	Flexible Low cost of delivery Can be very rapid through digital payment modalities	May not meet households' varied needs
Conditional cash transfer	Requires beneficiaries to undertake a specific action such as attend school/nutrition screening	Low cost of delivery Can be very rapid through digital payment modalities	Limits flexibility Can only be effective if the associated services have the capacity to enrol new students, serve additional infants etc.
			May not meet households' varied needs
Multi-purpose cash grant/ transfer	Regular or one-off transfer corresponding to the amount of money a household needs to fully or partially cover a set of basic and/or recovery needs. It can help meet an MEB or other calculation that determines basic needs	Can meet varied needs More cost-efficient, as multiple benefits are reaped from one modality Can be very rapid through digital payment modalities	Requires further coordination
Cash Plus	Complementary programming where cash transfer programmes (both conditional and unconditional) are combined with other modalities or activities such as referral to psychosocial support etc.	Can meet varied needs	Requires further coordination
Commodity voucher	Exchanged for a fixed quantity and quality of specified goods or services at participating vendors	Contributes to local economies	Restricts and specifies the assistance available
In-kind assistance	Provision of a parcel that contains perishable and/or non-perishable food and non-food items	Relevant when local markets are disrupted or experiencing hyperinflation More likely to improve nutritional outcomes	Less flexible More expensive than cash Complex logistics

Source: Author's own elaboration based on UNICEF (2019b; n.d.).

For further details on how to choose a benefit type, see the table below.

Criteria	Checklist: What we need to know							
	Does this option align with the preferred modalities of assistance for the target group, disaggregated by gender?							
Beneficiary needs,	Will the target group be able to effectively access assistance provided this way (e.g. does it involve use of technology; will it be delivered conveniently)?							
priorities, preferences and capacity	Will this option address the priority needs of the target group as defined by them (or are those needs to be met some other way)?							
	Is there a sufficient mix of short- and long-term programmes? Are acute and chronic needs being addressed sufficiently?							
	What is the cost associated with delivering the response option?							
Cost-efficiency	Note: While context plays a part and no transfer is universally more efficient than another, in comparable contexts, cash transfers are consistently more efficient to deliver than either vouchers or in-kind transfers. In specific contexts (for example, where large savings can be made on international procurement in bulk) inkind transfers may be a cheaper option, but not necessarily the most cost-effective due to the lack of choice afforded to beneficiaries and lack of multiplier effects for local markets.							
	Do other features of the response option (besides the modality) have an effect on overall cost-efficiency (for example, the scale of the response, the size of the transfer, the transfer distribution mechanism, geographical location)?							





Criteria	Checklist: What we need to know						
	Can the response option be implemented in a timely fashion?						
	Does the response option provide flexibility and choice to beneficiaries?						
	Note:						
Cost-effectiveness	Multisectoral responses will ideally be more cost-effective than single-sector responses, although this depends on the design of the intervention.						
	Cash is generally more effective than in-kind assistance to deliver multisectoral outcomes. Households use cash for their specific needs. To achieve the same precision in meeting recipients' needs through in-kind aid would be costly and time-consuming.						
	Cash transfers are undoubtedly better at meeting diverse needs through a single transfer.						
	Cash and vouchers can lead to monopolistic/oligopolistic behaviour by traders, increasing prices for beneficiaries.						
	Does UNICEF have the capacity and resources (staff, expertise, systems) to design and implement this response option in an effective and timely fashion?						
Capacity of implementers	Can such capacities be built in the time available? Can expertise and systems of the United Nations or implementing partners be leveraged?						
	• Do UNICEF's proposed implementing partners (government, international non-governmental organisations, others) have the capacity and resources to implement this response option in an effective and timely fashion?						
	What types and levels of risk does the response option pose, and can the most significant risks be effectively managed (including reputational, security, programmatic and fiduciary risks)?						
Risks and mitigation measures	Will the response option create new or exacerbate existing protection risks for individuals, households and communities, and can these be effectively mitigated?						
	Ensure risk analysis and mitigation measures are shared and discussed with donors to allow a shared risk approach.						
	Does the response option align with UNICEF's mandate and strategies?						
Alignment	Does the response option align with the broader humanitarian response strategy, and government and donor policy and strategies?						
	Does the response option complement the wider response of UNICEF and other humanitarian actors?						
Assumptions	What assumptions have been made regarding the operational context?						

Source: UNICEF (n.d.).



Annex 4: Example of a seasonal calendar

	Jan	Feb	March	April	May	June	July	Aug	Sept	Oct	Nov	Dec
Expenditure					·						·	
Loan repayment			high							low		
Food	high			low								
School						low			high			
Clothing				low						high		
Fuel	high											
Medical												
Income												
Work availability		low		high								
Price trends												
Veg. and fruits	high				low							
Fuel	high											
Difficult period												
Borrowing				low					high			

Source: UNICEF (n.d.) and Kukrety et al. (2016).



Annex 5: Gender-based violence risk analysis tool for cash and voucher-based assistance

INDIVIDUAL AND GBV/CVA RISK POTENTIAL POTENTIAL BENEFITS SPECIFIC) Keep these headings Individuals do not wish to register with the Participation agency or FSP for fear Explore options to Improved access and inclusion Informal that gender indentity Physical ensure confidentiality, to resources and (particularly support or sexual orientation assault, alternative/discreet opportunities for regarding networks and could be determined and psychological delivery mechanisms; persons with diverse information **GBV** response lead to discrimination abuse broad targeting criteria sexual orientations dissemination services as a direct result of to avoid stigma and gender identities and awareness) participating in a CVA intervention Safe and Eletronic CVA can dignified access be very discreet, Identify safe delivery (particularly Sexual assault, Rely on trusted disbursed in multiple Older women with mechanism; work regarding caregivers tranches, and allow physical with CBOs to ensure disabilities are seen as delivery to collect this group to access assault, "easy targets" for theft safety after delivery; (particurlaly psychological/ assistance; resources and after cash or vouchers monitoring feedback regarding emotional support of services, but consider are delivered and response delivery abuse women's groups barriers to access and mechanisms in place mechanism use of technology for of CVA) this group Personal data is shared with FSP without proper protocols for Community confidentially and consultations Consult with Confidentiality FSP staff who are also and outreach by commuinities about Emotional Broader discussion of of personal data community members local women's vulnerability targeting and physical GBV risks and trends of survivors and share information on groups and criteria; include data with CBOs violence persons at rysk intended recipients, other CBOs, protection protocols in resulting in discussion of FSP agreements discrimination by targeting criteria the host (nonbeneficiary) community Place conditions on Community CVA for e.g. school CVA and consultations, registration of girls complementary and outreach and boys; ensure services can lead Social norms Increased household Forced by CBOs, strong community to feelings of income may lead to early and partner, marriage of gender and consultations to inform empowerment for household & marriage for adolescent children (early women's rights design; ensure that women and girls; girls as families can community

Other (Contextspecified)

relations

Source: Care (2019).

Fill in the middle cells

marriage)

discussion

groups including

women and men

of different ages

CVA is part of a broader

programme supporting

basic needs and

right education

resilience, women's

households better

and decreased

able to meet needs

households tenstions

afford "bride price"



REFERENCES

Alfers, Laura. 2020. Informal Workers and Social Protection. London: Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline. https://socialprotection.org/discover/publications/informal-workers-and-social-protection>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

AlSalhi, Dina, Enas Halaiqah, Jude Najjar, Leen Hashem, and Moayad Ghannam. 2020. Lockdown but Not Shutdown: The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Financial Services in Jordan. Amman: Jordan Payments and Clearing Company. https://www.jopacc.com/ebv4.0/root_storage/en/eb_list_page/covid-19_report_english.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Alturki, Abdulmajeed. 2020. "Cash-Plus Support Brings New Hope." UNICEF website, 9 July. https://www.unicef.org/yemen/stories/cash-plus-support-brings-new-hope. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Audah, Mohammed, Maja Capek, and Aishwarya Patil. 2020. "COVID-19 and Digital Learning Preparedness in Jordan." World Bank blog, 21 May. https://blogs.worldbank.org/arabvoices/covid-19-and-digital-learningpreparedness-jordan>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Barbosa, Alexandre, Janaina Costa, Celine Carvalho, and Fabio Steibel. 2020. "Brazil's 'Auxílio Emergencial' and 'Caixa Tem' apps." Medium, 6 June. https://bit.ly/3rDKufV>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Barca, Valentina, Mudhumitha Hebbar, Alexandre Cote, Emrys Schoemaker, Susan Enfield, Rebecca Holmes, and Emily Wylde. 2021. Inclusive Information Systems for Social Protection: Intentionally Integrating Gender and Disability. London: Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline. https://socialprotection.org/discover/ publications/inclusive-information-systems-social-protection-intentionally-integrating>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Bazarbash, Majid, Jan Moeller, Naomi Najagushi Griffin, Hector Carcel Villanova, Esha Chhabra, Yingjie Fan, and Kazuko Shirono. 2020. "Mobile Money in the COVID-19 Pandemic." Special Series on COVID-19. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund. https://bit.ly/3Ah3JQD>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Beazley, Rodolfo, Will Derban, and Valentina Barca. 2020. Options for Rapid Delivery (Payment) of Cash Transfers for COVID-19 Responses and Beyond. London: Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline. https://socialprotection.org/discover/publications/space-options-rapid-delivery-payment-cash-transfers-covid-19- responses-and>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, World Bank Group, CGAP, and Women's World Banking. 2020. Digital Cash Transfers in the Time of COVID-19: Opportunities and Considerations for Women's Inclusion and Empowerment. Washington, DC: Consultative Group to Assist the Poor. https://bit.ly/3AjFOjt. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Cabot Venton, Courtenay, and Elayn Sammon. 2020. Programming Guidance: Embedding Localisation in the Response to COVID-19. London: Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline. https://bit.ly/3FKzO4b>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

CaLP. 2021. Case Study: Responsible Data Sharing with Governments. The Cash Learning Partnership. https://bit.ly/3AkI7CF>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Care. 2019. Cash & Voucher Assistance and Gender-Based Violence Compendium: Practical Guidance for Humanitarian Practitioners - A Companion Guide to the IASC GBV Guidelines. Washington, DC: Care USA and the IASC GBC Guidelines Reference Group. https://bit.ly/3Ag7uWg>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Cash Consortium for Iraq. 2020. "CCI Minimum Standards for COVID-19 MPCA Distributions in Iraq - EXTERNAL." Google Docs. https://docs.google.com/document/d/1Z0vkvRhE6juwlb9SsRbA-7MHXoFryWUykMbFmKKU8yE/ edit?usp=embed_facebook&usp=embed_facebook>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

CIPIT. 2020. Emerging Issues in Digital ID: Mobile Money During a Pandemic. Nairobi: Strathmore University Centre for Intellectual Property and Information Technology Law. https://cipit.strathmore.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/ Emerging-Issues-in-Digital-ID-Part1_Mobile-Money-During-a-Pandemic.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Cote, Alexandre. 2021. "Bridging the Disability Inequality Gap: Changes Needed for an Inclusive COVID-19 Response and Recovery." Policy in Focus, No. 48. Brasília: International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth. https://www.ipcig. org/sites/default/files/pub/en/PIF48 What s next for social protection in light of COVID 19 challenges ahead.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

ESCWA and UN Women. 2020. "The Impact of COVID-19 on Gender Equality in the Arab Region." Policy Brief, No. 4. Beirut and Amman: Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia and UN Women. https://www2.unwomen.org/ media/field%20office%20arab%20states/attachments/publications/2020/04/impact%20of%20covid%20on%20gender%20 equality%20-%20policy%20brief.pdf?la=en&vs=4414>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

FAO, UNICEF, and WFP. 2020. "Mitigating the effects of the COVID pandemic on food nutrition of schoolchildren." Interim Guidance Note. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, United Nations Children's Fund, and World Food Programme. https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/WFP-0000114175.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

FATF. 2020. International Standards on Combating Money Laundering and the Financing of Terrorism and Proliferation. Paris: Financial Action Task Force. https://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/recommendations/ pdfs/FATF%20Recommendations%202012.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

".التوصل بالمنحة بالنسبة للمسجلين في خدمة راميد والأجراء المسجلين في الضمان الاجتماعي." الأمازيغية" .Financesmaroc. 2020a. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=J2cSKsfreFo&ab_channel=financesmaroc>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

".طريقة التوصل بالمنحة بالنسبة للمسجلين في خدمة راميد والأجراء المسجلين في الضمان الاجتماعي التريفيت" . Financesmaroc. 2020b https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KKkFujRMID0&ab_channel=financesmaroc>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

".يديو توضيحي لمسطرة سحب الإعانات بالنسبة لغيرالمستفيدين من راميد والعاملين في القطاع غير المهيكل". Financesmaroc. 2020c. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pNQs1t70qdk&ab_channel=financesmaroc>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Gikandi, Levi. 2020. "COVID-19 and Vulnerable, Hardworking Kenyans: Why It's Time for a Strong Social Protection Plan." Oxfam Briefing Paper. Oxford: Oxfam International. . Accessed 10 December 2021.

Global Education Cluster. 2020. COVID-19 Implications for Programming of Cash and Voucher Assistance for Education in Emergencies. The Cash Learning Partnership. https://www.calpnetwork.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/04/CVA-for-EiE-in-COVID-19-context.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

GSMA. 2019. Mobile Money Enabled Cash Aid Delivery: Operational Handbook for Mobile Money Providers. Atlanta, GA: GSM Association. https://www.gsma.com/mobilefordevelopment/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Mobile_Money_ CVA_Operational-Handbook.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

GSMA. n.d. "MMU Mobile Money Glossary." GSM Association website. https://bit.ly/3ry2WqA. Accessed 29 April 2021.

Hammad, Maya, Fabianna Bacil, Krista Alvarenga, Charlotte Bilo, Fabio Veras, and Anna Carolina Machado. 2021. "Next Practices—Innovations in the COVID-19 Social Protection Responses and Beyond." *Research Report*, No. 59. New York and Brasília: United Nations Development Programme and International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth. https://bit.ly/3GPbL5J. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Holmes, Rebecca, Amber Peterman, Elayn Sammon, Courtenay Cabot Venton, and Laura Alfers. 2020. *Gender and Inclusion in Social Protection Responses During COVID-19*. London: Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline. https://bit.ly/3FH5I1v>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Hundal, Hartej Singh, Janari A P, and Bidisha Chaudhuri. 2020. "A Conundrum of Efficiency And Inclusion: Aadhaar and Fair Price Shops." *Economic and Political Weekly*. https://bit.ly/3tHATr9>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

IBC-SP. 2020. Social Protection Responses to the COVID-19 Crisis in the MENA/Arab States Region. New York: Regional United Nations Issue-Based Coalition on Social Protection. https://socialprotection.org/discover/publications/social-protection-responses-covid-19-crisis-mena-arab-states-region>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

ICRC. 2014. Rapid Assessment for Markets: Guidelines for an Initial Emergency Market Assessment. Geneva: International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. https://www.icrc.org/en/doc/assets/files/publications/icrc-002-4199.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

ID4D. 2018. "Identification for Development (ID4D) Global Dataset." World Bank Data Catalog website. https://datacatalog.worldbank.org/dataset/identification-development-global-dataset. Accessed 10 December 2021.

IPC-IG. 2021a. "Social Protection Responses to COVID-19 in the Global South: Online Dashboard." Socialprotection.org website. https://socialprotection.org/social-protection-responses-covid-19-global-south>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

IPC-IG. 2021b. The IPC-IG "Social Protection Responses to COVID-19 in the Global South" Online Dashboard (Beta Version): Methodological Note. Brasília: International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth. https://socialprotection.org/sites/default/files/Methodological/20Note_IPC-IG%20Dashboard%2024%20May.pdf. Accessed 10 December 2021.

IPC-IG. forthcoming. "COVID-19 Social Protection Response Mapping." Socialprotection.org website.

IPC-IG and UNICEF MENARO. forthcoming. *Child-Sensitiveness of Social Protection Responses to COVID-19 in MENA*. Brasília and Amman: International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth and UNICEF Middle East and North Africa Regional Office.

Jenik, Ivo, Mehmed Kerse, and Louis de Koker. 2020. "Rapid Account Opening in a Pandemic: How to Meet AML/CFT Rules for Social Assistance Payments." *COVID-19 Briefing: Insights for Inclusive Finance*. Washington, DC: Consultative Group to Assist the Poor. https://bit.ly/3fJXjA4. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Juergens, Florian, and Flavia Galvani. 2020. *Social Protection for Older People During COVID-19 and Beyond*. London: Social Protection Approaches to COVID-19: Expert Advice Helpline. https://www.calpnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/ninja-forms/2/SPACE-Social-protection-for-older-people-during-COVID-19-and-beyond.pdf. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Kazzaz, Zachary. 2020. "Emergency Disbursements Durig COVID-19: Regulatory Tools for Rapid Account Opening and Oversight." *White Paper*. San Mateo, CA: Glenbrook Partners. https://bit.ly/3lesHmq>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Kukrety, Nupur, Rachel Eichholz, Mohamad Younis, Mohamad Saleh, Yasser Haydarie, Bilal Hawsey, Rana Makki, Mohammad Hodieb, and Naji Salim Abdulrazek. 2016. Poverty, Inequality and Social Protection. Beirut: Oxfam and Issam Fares Institute. https://bit.ly/3fJUyyE. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Lana Plus TV. 2020. قشمد نم قعلس | قيروس يف قئراطل اقيع المتجال قباجتسال ل قينطول اقلمحل . Lana Plus TV. 2020. https://bit.ly/34YRQmE>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Le Site Info. 2020. "Aides Aux Ramedistes: Nouvelles Mesures Exceptionnelles." Le Site Info website, 11 April. https://bit.ly/3Kucvzb. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Lyman, Timothy, Louis de Koker, Chrissy Martin Meier, and Mehmed Kerse. 2019. "Beyond KYC Utilities: Collaborative Customer Due Diligence for Financial Inclusion." Working Paper. Washington: Consultative Group to Assist the Poor. . Accessed 10 December 2021.

Mathew, Anju Ann. 2020. "How Women Self-Help Groups Became Part of the Fight against COVID-19 in India." YourStory.Com, 1 October. https://bit.ly/33VNf43. Accessed 10 December 2021.

ترخيص بسحب الدعم المالي للمستفيدين من خدمة راميد في بعض الحالات الإستثنائية - وزارة الإقتصاد والمالية -". Ministry of Economy. 2020a. .
Ministry of Economy, Finance, and Administration Reform website, 11 April. https://bit.ly/3GHD5CN">https://bit.ly/3GHD5CN. Accessed 10 December 2021.

مسطرة سحب الإعانات بالنسبة لغير المستفيدين من خدمة راميد والعاملين في القطاع غير المهيكل - وزارة الإقتصاد" .Ministry of Economy. 2020b. . Ministry of Economy, Finance, and Administration Reform website. 21 April 2020. ".والمالية - المملكة المغربية https://bit.ly/3KuaKlz. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Narain, Nitish, Abhishek Anand, Shobhit Mishra, and Surbhi Sood. 2020. CICO Agents: The under-Valued "First Responders". Nairobi and Uttar Pradesh: Microsave Consultinghttps://www.microsave.net/wp-content/ uploads/2020/04/CICO-Agents-The-under-valued-first-responders.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

OPM. 2015. "Conceptualising Shock-Responsive Social Protection." Working Paper, No. 1. Shock-Responsive Social Protection Systems. Oxford: Oxford Policy Management. https://bit.ly/3Af84DS. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Parsheera, Smriti. 2020. "Participation of Persons with Disabilities in India's Aadhaar Project." SSRN website, 16 November. https://papers.srn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3700984. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Pinto, Alreena, and Amit Arora. 2020. "Gender Gap Narrowing 'Bank Sakhis' Take Crucial G2P Support the Last Mile During COVID-19." Center for Financial Inclusion website, 4 June. https://bit.ly/3ltmMdr. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Plan International. 2020. Periods in a Pandemic: Menstrual Hygiene Management in the Time of COVID-19. Woking, UK: Plan International. https://bit.ly/3tLbQ6H>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Rao Apparasu, Srinivasa. 2020. "Andhra Launches Mobile Covid-19 Sample Collection Centres, Aadhaar Must." Hindustan Times, 8 July. https://bit.ly/3nlzwoz>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Roelen, Keetie, Stephen Devereux, Abdul-Gafaru Abdulai, Bruno Martorano, Tia Palermo, and Luigi Peter Ragno. 2017. "How to Make 'Cash Plus' Work: Linking Cash Transfers to Services and Sectors." Working Paper, No. 10. Florence: UNICEF Innocenti Research Centre.

Rowntree, Lauren. 2020. *The Mobile Gender Gap Report 2020*. Atlanta, GA: GSM Association. Accessed .10">https://bit.ly/3Ai7K7b>.10 December 2021.

Save the Children. 2020. *Integrated Cash and Voucher Assistance (CVA) and Child Protection (CP) during the COVID-19 Pandemic*. London: Save the Children. https://bit.ly/3tGD921. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Tebaldi, Raquel. 2019. "Building Shock-Responsive National Social Protection Systems in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region." Research Report, No. 30. Brasília and Amman: International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth and UNICEF Middle East and North Africa Regional Office. https://ipcig.org/pub/eng/RR30_Building_Shock_Responsive_National_Social_Protection.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Thapliyal, Mitul, Venkat Goli, Saborni Poddar, and Sneha Sampath. 2021. "Digital ID in the Time of COVID-19 in India." Microsave Consulting blog, 7 February. https://bit.ly/3qLB2bb. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UN Women. 2020a. From Insight To Action: Gender Equality in the Wake of COVID-19. New York: UN Women. https://bit.ly/3qNNU0K. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UN Women. 2020b. 'Using Technology to Assist Vulnerable Syrian Refugees during COVID-19 Lockdown'. UN Women. 2020. https://bit.ly/3FME5Ej. Accessed 10 December 2021.

Una, Gerardo, Richard Allen, Sailendra Pattanayak, and Gwanealle Suc. 2020. "Digital Solutions for Direct Cash Transfers in Emergencies." *Special Series on COVID-19*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund. https://bit.ly/3qJc78j. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNFPA. 2020. *Humanitarian Cash and Voucher Assistance (CVA) Tip Sheet: CVA and COVID-19*. New York: United Nations Population Fund. https://bit.ly/3Ai9bT7. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNFPA Syria. 2020. *COVID-19 Humanitarian Response Flash Update No.* 7. Damascus: UNFPA Syria. https://bit.ly/33wpQXo. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNFPA and UNICEF. 2021. Child Marriage in the Context of COVID-19: Analysis of Trends, Programming and Alternative Approaches in the Middle East and North Africa. Amman: UNFPA Arab States Regional Office and UNICEF Middle East and North Africa Regional Office. https://bit.ly/3qHZE4K. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNHCR and NRC. 2020. *Multi-Sector Market Assessment Guidance and Toolkit*. Geneva and Oslo: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees and Norwegian Refugee Council. https://bit.ly/3tHCZY3. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF. 2019a. Faces, Fingerprints & Feet: Guidance on Assessing the Value of Including Biometric Technologies in UNICEF-Supported Programs. New York: United Nations Children's Fund. https://data.unicef.org/resources/biometrics/». Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF. 2019b. *Programme Guidance: Strengthening Shock Responsive Social Protection Systems*. New York: United Nations Children's Fund. https://www.unicef.org/media/63846/file>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF. 2020a. COVID-19 Response: Considerations for Children and Adults with Disabilities.

New York: United Nations Children's Fund. https://bit.ly/3FNJRpp. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF. 2020b. *Mitigating the Impacts of COVID-19 and Menstrual Health and Hygiene*. New York: United Nations Children's Fund. https://uni.cf/3FTnwa4. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF. 2020c. Yemen Emergency Response Crises Response Project - Social Impact Assessment for Component 3 (Emergency Cash Transfer). P172662. New York: United Nations Children's Fund. Accessed https://www.unicef.org/ yemen/media/4591/file/Yemen%20ECRP_AF5_Social%20Impact%20Assessment.pdf>.10 December 2021.

UNICEF. 2021. COVID-19 A Threat to Progress Against Child Marriage. New York: United Nations Children's Fund. https://bit.ly/3nJSnPY>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF. n.d. "Child Poverty." United Nations Children's Fund website. Accessed 5 April 2021. https://www.unicef.org/social-policy/child-poverty. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF. n.d. Humanitarian Cash Transfers Programmatic Guidance. New York: United Nations Children's Fund.

UNICEF Jordan. 2020a. COVID-19 Education Response. Amman: UNICEF Jordan. https://www.unicef.org/jordan/ media/3436/file/COVID19%20Education%20Response.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF. 2020b. UNICEF Jordan Country Office Responses to the COVID-19 Emergency: Distance Learning. Amman: UNICEF Jordan. https://www.unicef.org/jordan/media/3231/file/e-Learning.pdf>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF Syria. 2020. "Joint WFP, UNICEF e-Voucher Programme Supports Families of out-of-School Children in Aleppo." UNICEF Syria website, 30 July. https://uni.cf/3AggcEa. Accessed 10 December 2021.

UNICEF Tunisia. 2020. "La Tunisie s'investit Dans Le Capital Humain Des Enfants." UNICEF Tunisia website, 18 September. https://uni.cf/3nEeml7. Accessed 10 December 2021.

WFP. 2020a. Essential Needs Assessment Guidance Note. Rome: World Food Programme. https://socialprotection. org/discover/publications/essential-needs-assessment-guidance-note>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

WFP. 2020b. "Global Monitoring of School Meals During COVID-19 School Closures." World Food Programme website. https://cdn.wfp.org/2020/school-feeding-map/index.html. Accessed 10 December 2021.

WFP. 2020c. Minimum Expenditure Baskets: Guidance Note. Rome: World Food Programme. https://socialprotection. org/discover/publications/minimum-expenditure-baskets-guidance-note>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

WFP. 2020d. Setting the Transfer Value for CBT Interventions: Transfer Value Interim Guidance. Rome: World Food Programme. https://bit.ly/3fKnne8>. Accessed 10 December 2021.

World Bank. 2020. Project Appraisal Document on a Proposed Loan in the Amount of US\$246 Million to the Lebanese Republic for a Lebanon Emergency Crisis and COVID-19 Response Social Safety Net Project. PAD3855. Washington, DC: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development. https://bit.ly/3llxWR7. Accessed 10 December 2021.

World Bank. 2021a. "Unemployment, Female (% of Female Labor Force) (Modeled ILO Estimate) - Middle East & North Africa." World Bank Data. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.UEM.TOTL.FE.ZS?locations=ZQ. Accessed 10 December 2021.

World Bank. 2021b. "Unemployment, Male (% of Male Labor Force) (Modeled ILO Estimate) - Middle East & North Africa." World Bank Data. 2021. https://bit.ly/3nlzBZp>. Accessed 10 December 2021.



International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth

SBS, Quadra 1, Bloco J, Ed. BNDES, 13° andar 70076-900 Brasília, DF - Brazil Telephone: +55 61 2105 5000

ipc@ipc-undp.org • www.ipcig.org